IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN HESS, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 90,026

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 1995, a Lee County grand jury indicted Appellant John Hess for both premeditated and felony murder, and robbery with a firearm. The indictment alleged that Hess killed John Galloway with a firearm on or about May 11, 1993, in Lee County Florida. (1/5-6)¹ Hess had been arrested in Michigan, two years after the homicide, on unrelated charges. He waived extradition and was returned to Florida, whereupon he was questioned about Galloway's homicide. Ten days later, he said he shot Galloway by accident.

First Appearance on the unrelated charges was held April 1, 1995, at which time the Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. Hess. (2/26, 28, 41) On April 4, 1995, Hess executed a written invocation of rights form which applied to any criminal matters in which he was a suspect. (2/28-29, 97) The form stated, in part:

I hereby announce my desire to have counsel present before anybody talks to me about any matters relating to this case or any other charges pending against me or any other criminal matter in which I am a suspect or can reasonably be expected to become a suspect based on anything I might say. . . .

I further state hereby that at no time in the future do I or will I waive (that is, give up) my right to have my attorney present unless and until, after adequate consultation with my attorney, I specifically waive (give

The record of appeal in this case will be referenced by the volume number followed by the page number, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(3). For example, the indictment, which appears on pages 5 and 6 of the first volume is referenced as (1/5-6). Items in the supplemental record are referenced by S and the page number; for example, the first page would be (S/1).

up) all or part of my rights in written form (1/22; 2/97) The investigating officers ignored the written invocation and continued to interrogate Hess concerning the crime.

The case was first assigned to Judge William J. Nelson. (1/7) On March 11, 1996, Hess filed a Motion to Suppress Confessions, Admissions and Statements. (1/19-20) After denial of Appellant's motion to suppress, the case was tried by jury, December 9-13, 1996, Circuit Judge Jay B. Rosman, presiding. (3/137-41) Hess was found guilty of all three counts, as charged. (14/1437-37, 1444) Penalty phase was held December 17, 1996. (4/282) The jury recommended death by a vote of 8 to 4. (4/474)

An allocution or "Spencer" hearing was held on January 17, 1997 (5/545), and Hess was sentenced to death on January 29, 1997. (6/688, 715) The judge merged the premeditation and felony murder convictions. He sentenced Hess to serve 5 1/2 years for armed robbery, with a three-year minimum mandatory, consecutive to the thirty year sentence imposed in a prior unrelated case, and the sentence for first-degree murder. (6/692) Judge Rosman filed a written sentencing order on that date. (6/718-23)

Hess filed a Notice of Appeal on February 26, 1997 (6/724),

² Hess was arrested in Michigan March 14, 1995, on charges of sexual misconduct with his nieces, which allegedly occurred in Florida from March 11 to 13, 1995. He was tried and convicted of eight related counts on October 21, 1996. (5/498-99, 520-21) Although the alleged sexual activity occurred two years after the homicide, Hess was convicted a month or so before the trial in this case. He was sentenced to thirty years in prison in that case. (5/498-99, 520-21)

and the State filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal on March 6, 1997. (6/732-35) The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent Hess. This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

State's Case

On Monday afternoon, May 10, 1993, Appellant John Hess stopped by Omar Security to pick up a uniform for his new job as a security guard. While so doing, he chatted with his new boss, Mr. Warren. Among other things, Hess asked Warren if he had heard about a security guard who had been shot and killed that morning at the Lee County school system's bus garage, in East Ft. Myers, and that his body was found behind a bus.³ The man was shot once in the chest.⁴ Warren heard nothing about a homicide for two days. (10/693-95)

Two days later, on the night of May 11-12, 1993, John ("Jay") Galloway, a 69-year-old security guard at Lake Fairways, a

 $^{^3}$ Geraldine Lindsay, a former employee of Omar, testified that she overheard the conversation, and that Hess said a security guard was shot in the chest on Sunday night at a private security gate. She said Hess knew the guard, had worked with him at one time, and that the place where he worked (Weiser) called him into the office and told him about it. (4/678-685) When Hess began bragging about other stuff he had done, she tuned him out. (4/686)

 $^{^4}$ Hess told Warren other stories; some were so far-fetched they just "went in one ear and out the other." (4/708)

residential community in North Fort Myers, Lee County, Florida, was shot in the chest and killed.⁵ David Luffman, the roving security guard, testified that Galloway was fine when he left him shortly after 11:00. About 1:15 a.m., he found Galloway on the ground outside the guard house. (9/08-13) His body was cool. (9/524)

A resident of Lake Fairways returned home about midnight that night. The usual guard opened the door and waived them through. (9/554-555) About 12:30, a resident of a park adjoining Lake Fairways, heard two gunshots. (9/539-41) A resident of Lake Fairways heard two sharp sounds at 12:25 or 12:30. (9/547-48, 553)

The perpetrator took Galloway's wallet. Mrs. Betty Galloway testified that her husband's wallet was camel in color and was a trifold wallet. Galloway's Shell credit card was used shortly after the homicide to purchase gasoline at a Shell station about fifteen miles south of Lake Fairways. None of Galloway's credit cards were ever returned. (3/532-34)

Christina Amspacker, crime scene specialist, said a coppercolored projectile was found northeast of the body. (9/571, 573) An impression in the north wall of the guard house suggested a metal object ricocheted off the wall. (9/576) Amspacker said that, when they first arrived at the scene, they observed tire tracks on the

⁵ The security at Lake Fairways was run by the owners of Lake Fairways and an adjoining mobile home park. (3/509) Galloway and his wife, Betty, moved to Lee County from Michigan nine years prior to the homicide, and lived in the adjoining park which was called Pine Lakes. (3/530) Galloway had worked as a security guard there for about eight months. (3/535)

north side of the road, emerging west of the guard house. (9/586-89) Deputy Joslin testified that the tracks were in the dew and were destroyed by the sprinkler system. (10/624) Allen recalled that photos were taken of the tire tracks but did not measure the tires or wheelbase on Hess' car. (11/988-89)

A copper projectile was recovered from the Galloway's body. (9/581, 629) Amspacker and Joslin submitted items of evidence to the FDLE, including projectiles, a hotel receipt, Shell credit card receipt, the victim's uniform and fingernail clippings, and hair and fibers from the victim's body and hair. (10/598-603, 620, 630)

Dr. Burgess, an associate medical examiner in Lee County, opined that Galloway died from a gunshot wound to the chest. (10/654) The victim would have bled to death quickly. Internal bleeding showed Galloway's heart continued pumping for thirty seconds to a couple minutes. He may have been conscious for "seconds." (10/656-57) The path of the bullet was from front to back and left to right. There was little vertical deviation. Burgess could not determine the distance between the shooter and victim, but it was not a contact wound. (10/655-56, 660-62)

Sergeant Gil Allen, lead investigator in the case (11/791), said that, although they were unable to locate a weapon, they found

⁶ Two years after the crime, Amspacker and Joslin were involved in processing Hess's vehicle. No measurements were made to determine whether the car might have made the tracks. They found no evidence connecting Hess to the crime. (9/583-84, 10/621, 633)

a projectile which might have produced the mark on the wall. They found no wallet or personal identification belonging to Galloway. The officers interviewed Galloway's wife and learned that he carried a wallet containing numerous credit cards and some cash. (11/794-96) Allen learned that Galloway's Barnett Bank ATM card had been used at a Barnett Bank without success at about 1:00 a.m. on the night of the murder. (11/798) They withheld this information from the media. (11/801) Fingerprint and handwriting samples from Hess and his wife were sent to FDLE to compare with fingerprints and handwriting on credit card receipts. FDLE reported that they did not match. (10/631)

Mickey Warren of Omar Security heard of Galloway's murder on May 12, 1993, and thought it unusual that Hess had told him about a similar incident two days before Galloway was killed; thus, he called the authorities and spoke with Gil Allen. (10/696; 11/799) The following night, Allen sent Warren and undercover officer Les Partington, both of whom wore concealed "wires," to talk with Hess at his job site -- a Target store under construction. (10/697, 702, 788) They did not approach Hess honestly, however, but told him the officer was a prospective supervisor for the security agency. (10/702, 713-22) A tape was played for the jury. (10/718-82)

The Target Store Surveillance Tape

Hess told the men that he had worked for Weiser Security and had worked security at the schools in Lee County, including the

school bus garage. (10/726-28) Hess talked mainly about his training in guns and as a security guard in Michigan.⁷ (10/731)

When Warren mentioned that Hess knew about the Galloway incident before it occurred, Hess said he knew who Galloway was and that he was a very nice man, a "very sweet old man." He said Galloway had worked for Weiser Security for awhile and he had told him not to go to Pinkerton, that "they" were going to get him killed, but Galloway said it was good money. (10/734)

Hess said that Galloway "was sitting in this guard house" and "some kid" blew him away. When asked if the guard was killed with a shotgun, Hess did not know. He said nobody knew; that's "all they'll tell you." (10/734-35) Hess could not think of Galloway's name. (10/739) When asked why someone would shoot Galloway, Hess said he did not know; that they "[d]idn't take a fucking thing." He said no one knew what the guard had. (10/739-40)

When Warren asked why law enforcement took so long to release the news story, Hess said it was standard police practice to withhold information until they had done some investigation to keep people from getting panicky and putting weapons in their cars. Hess said it happened Monday **night** on the midnight shift, and "rumor has it" a lot of officers "are going to start carrying," (10/740-41)

 $^{^{7}\,}$ Agent Allen was unable to verify Hess' training because the school Hess said he attended was no longer in existence. (11/806)

⁸ Galloway had never worked for any security company except the private company at Lake Fairways. (11/970)

Hess told the men about a security guard killed in a car wreck and asked if they heard about the guy blown away over in Suncoast recently. Hess said a man who worked at Weiser was changing a tire when a black guy with a gun asked for his money. The man got his .38 and started shooting. (10/769-72) He described an incident that allegedly happened at the bus garage, during which four men were shot on New Year's Day. The captain handed Hess "his nine" and they started shooting. They hit four people before deputies arrived. (10/773-74) Partington was familiar with the bus barn in Ft. Myers and had never heard of such a shoot-out there. (4/787-88) Lloyd Sawyer, who worked at the bus barn with Hess, did not know of the incident. (12/1021) During the surveillance taping, Hess did not tell them anything he did not say Monday. (10/763)

On the day following the taped surveillance, May 14, 1993, Allen asked Hess to come into the sheriff's office. Hess complied. (11/806) Allen said he had talked to other security people, was getting nowhere, and needed help from a real professional like him. Hess' boss had told him about Hess' vast experience and training. Hess was not told he was a suspect. (11/807, 968)

Hess told Allen he knew Galloway because Galloway used to work at Weiser Security; he thought Galloway also worked for Pinkerton, which had or was trying to get the contract at Lake Fairways. He taught Galloway some security tricks, for which he got in trouble with the security agency. (11/811) This was not true as Galloway worked only for the security company at Lake Fairways. (11/970) No

other witness confirmed that Hess ever met Galloway. (11/985)

Hess told Allen he had been to the Lake Fairways guard gate to inquire about moving into Lake Fairways, and the guard told him it was a retirement community. Galloway was very polite, and let him pull in and turn around. Allen said Hess also described Galloway as rude, and as nice and friendly. Hess speculated in detail about how Galloway must have been killed, much of which Allen believed was fairly accurate. (11/816) Hess said Galloway did anything wrong, but was just doing his job. (11/979)

Hess told Allen he did not own any firearms. He had worked at a guard post similar to Lake Fairways, and driven by Lake Fairways every day on the way to his post. (11/811, 974-79; 12/1001) He knew there were two guards and the roving guard came back to the guard house periodically. Hess even told Allen about his own [Allen's] patrol duties and knew exactly when and where he would be at certain hours. (11/814-15)

Hess said his wife got off work about 12:15 a.m. on the night of the homicide. State witnesses confirmed that his wife got off work at 12:00 and that Mr. and Mrs. Hess sat around until about 12:15. (11/973) Hess said he heard about the Galloway murder over a CB radio. When confronted with the fact that he told Warren about the murder before it happened, Hess said Lloyd Sawyer at Weiser Security told him about the homicide. Hess said he was fired from Weiser for overhearing a conversation between Sawyer and Ms. Gordon, an administrator at Weiser, about a "hostile" takeover of

security positions (security guards beat up, hurt, or intimidate guards at other companies to take over positions). Allen found no credibility to Hess' story. He interviewed Sawyer and Gordon and found no reason to believe Sawyer was involved. (11/822-28)

Hess drew a layout of Lake Fairways. Although Allen thought it was a good drawing, defense counsel pointed out various errors which Allen conceded. Hess omitted the golf course and woods, the sidewalk and retail office, and the pond south of the guard house. Although some trailers were not positioned correctly, the driveway and guardhouse were properly located. (11/981-84)

Shortly after midnight on May 15th, Hess returned to the sheriff's office, asking to speak with Allen. (11/829) Hess told Allen he had made up some of the stories he told them. (11/831) (11/831) Allen admitted that after he first interviewed Hess, Hess was and remained a suspect. (11/967)

They obtained a search warrant for Hess' trailer on May 15, 1993, and searched with no advance warning to Hess, but found no evidence. (11/948) The warrant included Hess' car which was also searched. No evidence was found in the car. (11/985) Although Allen was suspicious of Hess, he follow any other leads. (11/833)

⁹ Lloyd Sawyer, age 32, was about six feet tall, two-twenty pounds, with brown hair. He had a concealed weapons permit and owned handguns. Sawyer testified that he was working at a guard post about ten minutes from the Charlotte County line on the night of the homicide. He did not feel well so called in a replacement (Sweeney) who arrived at midnight. Sawyer stayed until 1:30 to explain what needed done. At the time of the trial, he did not know Sweeney's whereabouts. (11/1022-24)

When the officers called Galloway's credit card holders, they learned only that someone had tried to use his ATM card. About thirty days later when the bills started coming in, they learned that two other cards were used. The first was a purchase made at the Shell station on U.S. 41, where Hess' wife worked, at 12:36 a.m. on the night of the murder. They talked to the managers at Shell and the employees on duty that night. (11/834-35) Allen did not check to see if there were any other Shell stations between Lake Fairways and the station where Juli Hess worked, but was unable to recall any. (11/990)

They also learned that a Mastercard belonging to Galloway was used on the Miccosukee Indian reservation at Everglades Towers, a motel on U.S. 41 near Miami. The card was used at 4:00 a.m. on the night of the murder. The guest registration receipt bore John Galloway's name and was dated May 12, 1993. (11/835-37)

Between May 15 and May 19, 1993, Allen had several telephone conversations with Hess. Hess said he dreamed about the case and agreed to show them how the perpetrator committed the crime. Hess talked to numerous people about his dreams, including a priest, a psychic, and law enforcement officers at a local precinct. (11/839)

Audiotaped Walk-Through; The Dream Sequence

An audiotape was played for the jury during which Hess, Agent Futch and Agent Allen did a re-enactment of Hess' dreams of the homicide on April 19, 1993. (11/843-928) On the way to Lake

Fairways, Hess pointed out where the perpetrator committed other crimes. He just had flashes of trailers in his dreams. He took the officers past a store where the man sometimes bought beer. (11/846-55) He said the man was "very, very mean." (11/872)

Hess told the officers they would go the way the perpetrator walked prior to the homicide. He was on foot that night. Hess did not know the perpetrator and did not feel as though he knew him because he was not very nice; was violent; and enjoyed harming defenseless people. He was not a security guard. (11/848-55)

During this conversation, the men were driving toward Lake Fairways. Hess told them to pull over, and pointed out where the perpetrator liked to park. He said the perpetrator always walked down the road and never went into the woods. (11/856-57) He said the man stayed in the car a long time before he got out. He was drinking. He got out when it became dark. (11/860-62) The man had been there before counting how many cars went in and out of the park. He'd been watching the goings and comings. He "hit" other places too and when he got too drunk he would leave. (11/863-64)

On the night of the murder, the perpetrator got drunk. Hess did not think he had killed before, but he liked to rob people. The dream started "when . . . I came on duty." (11/864-66) Somebody spotted the man and he ran back to his car and took off. He moved the car across the road. (11/867) He hid it in a culvert.

They entered the woods. Although one of the officers asked if the man was watching the guard, Hess said he was "just watching."

That was the killer's favorite drinking spot. Hess said that the killer's buddy "comes out over here." (11/872-84)

Hess said that the perpetrator was running "like mad," and two people were chasing him. He went through the woods to the guard gate because he'd been spotted on the sidewalk. Although Hess said he did not "see" the man go to the guard house and did not know how he got there, the officers insisted he show them. Hess said the killer came out "somewhere in here." (11/876-78)

Hess seemed to believe he was the guard who had been killed; he was doing his report in the guard house. The perpetrator saw him and backed off. He called the police and told them someone was sneaking around. (11/875) The guard house at Lake Fairways was not the one in his dream. There were gates in his dream, and no flag pole. (11/880) He said he picked up the rolodex and looked for the sheriff's number, but it wasn't there. Hess continued, But see, I'm on duty. . . Dead at night. There's a door now. The night was going perfect, no problems, but something made me --I heard something. I picked up the radio. . . . I walked. . . . And I got out. I picked up the radio, okay, and asked where the, what the rover's 10-20 was. . . . He didn't answer. . . . I put it back down and sat back down. . . . Somebody came walking up. (11/881-82) A white male, skinny, black hair, very long. . . . I stood at the doorway. . . . The door was just like it is, propped open . . . [t]he guy I relieved said it gets too hot in here and leave the door open. . . In the dream, I stay in here. . . . says, hey man, what's up? . . . I says . . . excuse me, sir, but you are trespassing. And he says, no, I'm not. I says, do you live here? He says, no. Then I ask him for his ID. He reaches in his pocket to get his ID. Instead he pulls a gun.

(11/883-84) Continuing, Hess, as the guard, asked,

[W]hat do you want? . . . you want my money? . . . He says yes. I don't have any. Do you want my checkbook? No, I want money. I threw him my wallet. I says, here,

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