## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN HESS,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 90,026

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: The lower court did not err in denying appellant's motion to suppress statements since the only basis asserted - reliance on <u>State v. Guthrie</u>, 666 So.2d 562 (Fla. 2DCA 1995) - was subsequently disapproved in <u>Sapp v. State</u>, 690 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1997). Additionally, appellant's statements were not involuntary, he did not inform authorities of any invocation of any right to counsel and provided voluntary statements after <u>Miranda</u> warnings.

Issue II: The lower court did not err in denying a motion for judgment of acquittal for the alleged failure to prove premeditation. Appellant made comments regarding the killing of a security guard to witnesses prior to the homicide, ultimately admitting killing the victim and utilized his wife in making purchases with the victim's credit card. His varying statements of an accidental shooting or that he did not commit the crime were properly rejected by the jury.

Issue III: The lower court did not err in failing to grant a judgment of acquittal on first degree felony murder. First, the issue has not been preserved since defense conceded below that the elements were established. Second, the claim is meritless as evidenced by appellant's use of the victim's property after the killing, purchases with the credit cards and efforts to withdraw money at an ATM machine. See G. W. Brown v. State, 644 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1994); Voorhees v. State, 699 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1997).

Issue IV: The Court should not vacate the conviction and discharge appellant on a discredited theory that this Court acts as a supervisory jury to trump the jury below who -- unlike this Court -- saw and heard the witnesses and could determine who was credible. See <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981). This Court should not "acquit" when there is competent, substantial evidence to support the conviction.

Issue V: The lower court did not err in finding the two aggravating factors of prior violent felony and homicide committed during a robbery. Appellant admitted his prior convictions of sexual activity with Crystal Griffith (a child less than eighteen years of age) by penetration of her vagina with his penis and finger and by making her masturbate him and the judge and jury both properly found this homicide to have occurred during a robbery.

Issue VI: The lower court did not err reversibly in failing

to find and give significant weight to proposed mitigators. The court adequately explained why it failed to find some of the factors asserted and assigned the appropriate weight within its discretion to the mitigators it did find.

Issue VII: The sentence of death is proportionately warranted since the two valid aggravators outweigh the minor non-statutory mitigation found. See Mendoza v. State, 700 So.2d 670 (Fla. 1997).

Cross Appeal Issue I: The lower court erred in allowing the defense to argue at penalty phase over the prosecutor's objection that the instant murder was unlike other high profile murder cases about which no evidence had been presented in the effort for the jury to engage in a proportionality analysis about which they are uninformed and which is reserved for this Court. See Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1984).

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN FAILING TO GRANT A MOTION TO SUPPRESS APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS BECAUSE ALLEGEDLY THEY WERE INVOLUNTARY, AND LACKED TRUSTWORTHINESS AND RELIABILITY.

#### A. The Motion to Suppress Hearing:

Appellant, through counsel, filed a motion to suppress confessions, admissions and statements on March 11, 1996, alleging that law enforcement authorities had instigated all contacts with Mr. Hess after his April 4, 1995 invocation of rights in the unrelated case (Case No. 95-914-CFWJN)(Vol. I, R. 19-21). At the evidentiary hearing on March 19, 1996, counsel indicated that he had filed the motion on the two pending murder charges (Case No. 95-1039 and 95-1483), that appellant had been arrested in Michigan on Florida charges involving sexual misconduct with his nieces --completely unrelated to any of the charges in the two cases before the Court, that Mr. Hess had executed a written invocation of rights form on the sexual misconduct charges on April 4, 1995 and that any questioning on any charges should be suppressed as a violation of the right to have counsel present (Vol. II, R. 26-27).

Hess testified that he was placed under arrest in Michigan on March 14, was returned to Florida on March 31, had a first appearance hearing on April 1, and signed an invocation of

constitutional rights form on April 4, 1995 (Vol. II, R. 28-29). Hess stated that he subsequently gave a taped statement in April to Agents Crone, Buissereth and Sergeant Tamayo, and claimed that he had not contacted any of these three agents prior to the recording. No one from the Public Defender's Office was there and he was in custody (Vol. II, R. 32-33). He gave another transcribed statement on April 11 to Agent Dekle (Vol. II, R. 33-4), and other statements on April 12 (Vol. II, R. 35-37).

On cross-examination appellant denied telling Agent Crone and Sergeant Stanforth on the March 31-April 1 flight to Florida that he knew something about the Galloway homicide and wanted to talk to them about it (Vol. II, R. 41). He didn't know if they read him his rights in the April 1 statement where he said he was just a witness and named others he claimed committed the killing (Vol. II, R. 42). Hess claimed that he was only asked if he knew two named security officers and he said he had worked with them (Vol. II, R. 43). He agreed that he spoke with Agent Crone between April 2 and April 20 (Vol. II, R. 45) and he didn't recall if he was read Miranda rights (Vol. II, R. 46). Hess declared that he was not challenging the technicalities of Miranda warnings (Vol. II, R. 47). He stated that he did not remember the April 10 videotaped walk-through (Vol. II, R. 48).

The state called Deputy Andrew Stanforth who testified that on

the drive from the jail to the airport in Michigan Hess mentioned that he had been a witness to a murder in North Fort Myers and Agent Crone told him he could take a statement later because they couldn't do anything on a plane or in an airport (Vol. II, R. 53-54). Later that evening, April 1, appellant provided a name that supposedly had done the crime (Vol. II, R. 54-55). On April 5, he saw Hess sitting in the bench area and appellant told him he needed to talk to Randy and the witness called Randy that night (Vol. II, R. 55). Hess hadn't been charged with murder at that time (Vol. II, R. 59).

Lieutenant Kerry Griner came into contact with Hess on April 10 who was in an interview room when Griner transported Sawyer to the office (Vol. II, R. 62). Griner knew Hess as a security guard in his district (Vol. II, R. 62). Hess said he was telling the truth and no one would believe him on the accusation that Sawyer and another man was involved in the homicide, mentioned that maybe he wasn't telling the truth and Griner responded that you can't resolve the issue until you tell the truth and Hess responded that he wanted to tell the truth and wanted to talk to Randy Crone (Vol. II, R. 63). Crone was interviewing Sawyer at the time; Hess had not yet made any admissions to being the murderer (Vol. II, R. 64).

Randy Lee Crone of the Lee County Sheriff's Office testified that he had no discussion with appellant on the homicide cases at

the Michigan jail; on the way to the airport Hess mentioned that he had witnessed a Fort Myers murder (Vol. II, R. 69). This was two years after the Galloway murder. Crone was not questioning him and told appellant he'd take a sworn, taped statement when they got back to Fort Myers. Hess was read and waived his Miranda rights on April 1 (Vol. II, R. 70-71). Hess claimed he was in the back seat when Sawyer and another passenger drove to the security guard gate, got into an argument with the man and Sawyer shot him (Vol. II, R. He interviewed Hess again on April 2, appellant was again read his rights and indicated he wanted to talk without an attorney present (Vol. II, R. 72). Crone stated that he first became aware of the written rights invocation form dated April 4, 1995 on the sexual battery case after the interviews of April 11 and 12 and he didn't think much of it because he was under the assumption Hess was a witness and they weren't talking to him about the sexual battery case at all (Vol. II, R. 73). Crone interviewed Hess on April 2 and April 10 with no intervening contact (Vol. II, R. 73-74).

Crone was told by Stanforth -- between the 2nd and 10th -- that Hess wanted to speak to him again and Crone thought he might have more information on the case. Hess had been very calm, very helpful (Vol. II, R. 74). Crone had Hess brought from the jail on April 10 to do photo lineups on who did the shooting (Vol. II, R.

While Crone was interviewing Sawyer, Griner knocked on the door and advised that Hess wanted to speak to him, that he did the shooting and wanted to talk about it (Vol. II, R. 75). Crone read appellant his rights, indicated that he understood and wished to talk to him without a lawyer. His statement on April 10 was that he drove to the location, got into an argument with the security guard a night or two before that, that the guard reached out and grabbed him, and the gun went off and shot him (Vol. II, R. 76). At the end of the tape appellant agreed to do a video walk-through of the Galloway and Paulene Boyle homicides and Hess was aware of the fact he was being videotaped -- he again waived counsel (Vol. II, R. 77). Hess was conscious and alert and coherent. Prior to the April 10 interview Hess did not show him the written invocation of rights form (Vol. II, R. 77). Hess continued to tell him he had never been arraigned on the 1st and 2nd of April (Vol. II, R. 78). Appellant never told him he didn't want to talk to him, and he did not ask for a lawyer (Vol. II, R. 79). Crone regarded Hess as a witness prior to April 10 (Vol. II, R. 79). He had not previously been arrested in 1993 (Vol. II, R. 80).

In the lower court Hess argued that his motion was "based entirely upon the case of <u>State of Florida vs. Guthrie</u> which is a Second District Court of Appeals case which is -- which was decided on December the 29th of 1995 and is found at 21 Florida Law Weekly,

page 136" (Vol. II, R. 87). The defense acknowledged that <u>Guthrie</u> might conflict with Sapp v. State (Vol. II, R. 87).

The court denied the motion to suppress (Vol. II, R. 99).

Almost one year after the suppression hearing this Court decided <u>Sapp v. State</u>, 690 So.2d 581 (Fla. 1997), approving the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and disapproving the decision in <u>State v. Guthrie</u>, 666 So.2d 562 (Fla. 2DCA 1995). This Court held:

- [5] [6] We agree with the reasoning in Alston and find it entirely consistent with the underlying premise of Miranda. Miranda's safeguards were intended to protect the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination by countering the compulsion that inheres in custodial interrogation. "[T]he presence of setting а custodial and official interrogation is required to trigger the Miranda right-to-counsel prophylactic.... [A]bsent one or the other, Miranda is not implicated." Alston, 34 F.3d at 1243 (citing Miranda, 384 U.S. at 477-78, 86 S.Ct. at 1629-See also Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 1689, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980) ("[T]he special procedural safequards outlined in Miranda are required not where a suspect is simply taken into custody, but rather where a suspect in custody subjected to interrogation."). is Accordingly, we conclude that the claim of rights form was not effective under federal law to invoke Sapp's Miranda right to counsel under these circumstances.
- [7] [8] Sapp also argues that regardless of whether federal law permits an individual to anticipatorily invoke the right to have counsel present during custodial interrogation, article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution provides an independent basis for this right. (FN8) He relies on our

statement in Traylor v. State, 596 So.2d 957,
966 (Fla.1992):

Under [Article I,] Section 9, .... [i]f the suspect indicates in any manner that he or she wants the help of a lawyer, interrogation must not begin until a lawyer has been appointed and is present or, if it has already begun, must immediately stop until a lawyer is present.

Although states may afford greater protection to the individual than the federal Constitution does, PruneYard Shopping Center v. Robins, 447 U.S. 74, 100 S.Ct. 2035, 64 L.Ed.2d 741 (1980), we do not interpret article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution as doing so here.

[9] [10] While *Traylor* contemplates that an individual may invoke the right to counsel before questioning begins, it cannot fairly be read to mean that a suspect may invoke the right at any time after being taken into custody. Cf. Arbelaez v. State, 626 So.2d 169 (Fla.1993) (holding that police were not required give defendant his to Miranda warnings during a telephone conversation with him where conversation occurred outside the context of custodial interrogation), cert. denied, 511 U.S. 1115, 114 S.Ct. 2123, 128 L.Ed.2d 678 (1994). We must keep in mind that the reason for informing individuals of their rights before questioning is to ensure that statements made during custodial interrogation given voluntarily, not to prevent individuals from ever making these statements without first consulting counsel. Traylor, 596 So.2d at 964. As we recognized in Traylor, freely given, voluntary confessions are an unqualified good. Id. at 965. allowing one to invoke the right to counsel for custodial interrogation before it is even imminent (whether it be through a claim of rights form or by any other means) would provide little additional protection against involuntary confessions but unnecessarily hinder lawful efforts by police to obtain voluntary confessions. We believe that requiring the invocation to occur either during custodial interrogation or when it is imminent strikes a healthier balance between the protection of the individual from police coercion on the one hand and the State's need to conduct criminal investigations on the other.

(Id. at 585-586).

Appellant contends that his case is distinguishable from <u>Sapp</u> because the invocation of rights form was not signed prior to interrogation about this case. He argues that he was incarcerated and knew further interrogation concerning this case was imminent. Hess ignores the contrary testimony of police. According to Crone, Hess mentioned on the way to the airport in Michigan he had witnessed a murder and talked with officers on April 1 and 2, and Crone had no intervening contact until April 10 (Vol. II, R 69-74). Deputy Stanforth testified that on April 5 Hess requested to talk to Crone and that Stanforth phone Crone (Vol. II, R 55, 59). As to the claim that Hess showed the invocation form to Crone during an interrogation, Crone claimed he was informed of it <u>after</u> the interviews on April 11 and 12 (not before as Hess contended) (Vol. II, R 73, 77) and never indicated that he didn't want to talk to him or want a lawyer (Vol. II, R 79).

#### B. Appellant's Claim That the Statements Were Involuntary:

The first thing that must be asserted is that this claim should be deemed procedurally barred as it was not asserted in the

court below. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982);

Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990); Mordenti v. State,

630 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1980). The only argument presented below was

that the officers had questioned him in violation of State v.

Guthrie, 666 So.2d 562 (Fla. 2DCA 1995) (Vol. I, R. 87) - a

decision disapproved by this Court in Sapp v. State, 690 So.2d 581

(Fla. 1997) and quashed in State v. Guthrie, 692 So.2d 888 (Fla.

1997). See also Cullen v. State, 699 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1997).

(Appellee submits that the lower court did not err reversibly, if

that is what Hess is suggesting at page 43, footnote 37 of his

brief, in ruling consistently with this Court's precedents of Sapp,

Guthrie, and Cullen, supra, rather than the discredited Second

District Court opinion of State v. Guthrie, 666 So.2d 562.)

Although he made no similar challenge below Hess now initiates a challenge to his confession asserting that under the totality of circumstances his statements were involuntary.<sup>2</sup>

#### C. Written Invocation of Right to Counsel for Interrogation:

Appellant seeks to distinguish his case from Sapp, supra.

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